國立臺灣大學職業醫學與工業衛生研究所

碩士論文

Institute of Occupational Medicine and Industrial Hygiene College of Public Health National Taiwan University Master Thesis

短期臭氧暴露與全死因、糖尿病、心血管疾病

死亡之關係

Association of Short-term Ozone Exposure with Total, Diabetes, and Cardiovascular Diseases Mortalities

Wu, Ting-Ting

指導教授:鄭尊仁 博士

Advisor: Cheng Tsun-Jen, MD, ScD.

中華民國 99 年 7 月

July, 2010

致謝

進入職衛所兩年的時光,經歷了許多挫折與成長。在這段時間中,最感激的 莫過於指導老師鄭尊仁教授,在我每一個犯錯的過程中耐心的給予我教育與引 導,讓我在學術領域蹒跚學步的過程中有了長足的進步,並讓我在學術的殿堂外 也了解其他做人做事的道理。謝謝鄭老師給予我每一次犯錯與改過的空間,也滿 心感激鄭老師不吝花費時間給我各方面的建議與指導。

感謝口委陳主智老師、陳保中老師以及呂宗學老師在這段時間內給予的所有 幫助與指導,提供我在碰到瓶頸時另外一種觀點與解決方法。

感謝 TJC lab 的每一位成員在這兩年內帶給我所有的協助與成長。謝謝萌萌 與柏任在我碩一時給予我的偌大包容,讓我可以用我原本的個性在這成長茁壯; 謝謝元鴻在這兩年來的照顧,讓我們在充滿壓力快爆炸的時候給我們抒發的管 道,以及在研究上的建議與引領;謝謝我亦敵亦友的同袍羅鎧,你接受我的囂張 跋扈當我的垃圾桶,也與我一起在碩二時堅強的面對 lab meeting 砲轟並存活了 下來;謝謝學妹小阮幫我買了一年的伙食,讓我用碩士論文當藉口享受一年飯來 張口的生活;也謝謝學妹安琪精心挑選的畢業禮物,讓碩二的我看了真是充滿驚 喜;謝謝耐心的助理哲雯跟雅如協助實驗室所有的大小事,以及不厭其煩的教會 我實驗室與研究計畫許多瑣碎卻重要的事情。

謝謝我的精神伴侶洪巨軒在這六年來跟我一起經過大大小小的開心與爭吵, 雖然在學業上提供非常有限的幫助,但在我最痛苦黑暗的時候,你是我心裡最強 力的支柱。謝謝我的良師益友彦婷、嘉芳、右翎、怡萱、婷雯、盈瑩這兩年來的 陪伴與助益,祝福你們在未來的人生中都能走得順暢幸福。謝謝在這兩年給我心 靈支持往前走的所有人,即使曾經脆弱無助,即使未來遇到的事情仍舊很多無法 預測,但我會善用這兩年學習所得成為更堅強更好的人,在往後的人生中創造更 燦爛的火花。

吳亭亭

謹致 99.7

摘要

在流行病學研究上已有文獻指出臭氧暴露與呼吸道及心血管疾病死亡具有相 關性,然而在臭氧暴露與糖尿病死亡的關係上,尚未有一致的研究結果。本研究 目的為探討大氣臭氧暴露對全死因、心血管疾病與糖尿病死亡之危險性。

本研究使用 2006 至 2008 年衛生署死亡資料庫,選取戶籍位於大台北地區(全 台北市與部分台北縣鄉鎮市)死亡年齡高於五十歲之糖尿病死亡(ICD9, 250)個案 (共5,767 個案數)為研究對象,分析糖尿病死亡與臭氧暴露之危險性。全死因與 心血管疾病死亡個案(ICD9, 390-459)根據糖尿病死亡個案之年齡與性別分別以 1:2 之比例亂數選出(各 11,543 個案數),分析大氯臭氧暴露對全死因與心血管疾 病死亡之危險性,進一步比較臭氧暴露對不同的疾病死亡風險。環境資料使用臺 灣環保署環境監測站空氣品質監測網提供之量測數據,利用大台北地區之 15 個監 測站之日平均量測值為死亡個案之暴露濃度。除了日平均值的計算,臭氧最大八 小時值亦納入分析。在暴露評估模式上,以1天至7天的臭氧濃度移動平均值, 以及1天至7天的單日延遲臭氧濃度代表不同的累積暴露情形。在此研究中,使 用病例交叉研究設計,以死亡為健康效應,並定義危害期於死亡當天至前六天(共 七個危害期),對照期為危害期前一、二、三、四週相對應之日期做選擇,分析大 氯臭氧暴露對死亡造成之風險。在統計模式中,控制溫度、濕度、懸浮微粒(PM2.5

本研究發現糖尿病在臭氧暴露下有顯著死亡風險,以24小時臭氧移動平均值 模式並控制溫度、濕度、PM2.5(或 PM10)等影響因子下,臭氧暴露對全死因、心血管 疾病死亡與糖尿病死亡有累積效應情況。男性與性別 50-65 歲糖尿病個案有顯著

i

死亡風險。在利用最大八小時臭氧濃度值做分析時,亦發現有相似的結果。與全 死因及心血管死亡相比,暴露於大氣臭氧下,糖尿病沒有較高的死亡風險。因本 研究使用死亡資料庫提供之原死因為個案篩選條件,故糖尿病死亡個案確切死因 在未來研究中應該要再釐清以利分析。



Abstract

Background: Associations between ozone exposure and mortality have been reported, particularly in respiratory and cardiovascular diseases (CVD). However, the relationship between ozone (O₃) exposure and diabetes mellitus (DM) mortality remains unclear.

Objective: To compare the relationships between ozone exposure with total mortality and those caused by CVD and DM.

Method: DM deaths (International ICD-9, 250; N=5,767) more than 50 years of age from National Mortality Registry in metropolitan Taipei, Taiwan between 2006 and 2008 were included for analysis. For comparison, total death and CVD deaths (ICD-9, 390- 459, N=11534) were chosen by match with gender and age with DM deaths. Average levels of ozone each day were calculated from 15 monitoring stations of Taiwan EPA in this area; daily maximum 8-hour concentrations of ozone were computed as well. Case-crossover design was applied to examine the risk between the hazard and reference periods while daily moving average from 0-day (the day of death) to 7-day was used and 4 reference days were chosen by every 7 days before the day of death for 1 month. Temperature and relative humidity were included in the single pollutant model, and PM_{10} or $PM_{2.5}$ was further adjusted in two-pollutant model.

Results: In two-pollutant model with $PM_{2.5}$ adjusted, the trend of accumulative effect of ozone was observed in total death, CVD and DM deaths. Diabetics (OR=1.11, 1.03-1.19), total death (OR), and CVD (OR=1.10, 1.04-1.16) were at risk for deaths in an interquartile range increase of ozone (11.6 ppb) within 7 days exposure. Similar results were also obtained with maximum 8-hour ozone exposure. However, the risk of diabetes deaths from ozone exposure was not higher than those of total deaths and CVD deaths. In this study, either PM_{10} or $PM_{2.5}$ was not associated with ozone exposure.

Conclusion: Increased ozone exposure is associated with mortality in total deaths, DM and CVD deaths. However, diabetics were not at higher risk with exposure to ozone. Because the underlying causes of death from diabetes are not available from the National Mortality Registry, specific causes of death from diabetes need to be specified in the future study.



Contents

摘要i
Abstract iii
Table Contents vi
Figure Contents vii
Chapter 1 Background and Objective1
Chapter 2 Literature review
2.1 Air pollution and health
2.1.1 PM exposure and Health
2.1.2 O ₃ exposure and health
2.1.3 Air pollution and susceptible groups10
2.2 Diabetes mellitus
2.3 National Mortality Registry 10
2.4 Case-crossover study design
Chapter 3 Material and Method
3.1 Health data
3.2 Environmental data
3.3 Statistical analysis14
Chapter 4 Results
Chapter 5 Discussions 19
5.1 Ozone exposure and human health19
5.2 Ozone exposure metrics
5.2.1 Daily average and maximum 8-hour means of O_3 level 20
5.2.2 Moving average and single-lag models
5.3 Total, CVD, and DM mortalities21
5.4 Gender and age differences
5.5 The National Mortality Registry data22
Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations 23
Chapter 7 References

Table Contents

Table 1 Literature Reviews of Positive Associations between O ₃ Exposure and Health
Effects6
Table 2Literature Reviews of Negative Associations between O ₃ Exposure and Health
Effects
Table 3. Demographic Distribution of Total, CVD, and DM Death in Taipei, 2006- 2008
Table 4. Distribution of Air Pollutants in Taipei between 2006 and 2008
Table 5. Correlation Coefficients among Different Pollutants in Taipei, 2006- 2008 33



Figure Contents

Figure 1. The flowchart of the present study design16
Figure 2. The positions of monitoring stations and selected areas in Taiwan
Figure 3. The selection of risk and reference periods in the moving average model 35
Figure 4. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model36
Figure 5. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average models
with daily O_3 concentrations
Figure 6. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average models
with maximum 8-hour O ₃ concentrations
Figure 7. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model with
daily O ₃ concentrations
Figure 8. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model with
maximum 8-hour O ₃ concentrations
Figure 9. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model by
different genders with daily O ₃ concentrations41
Figure 10. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model by
different genders with maximum 8-hour O ₃ concentrations42
Figure 11. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model by
different genders with daily O_3 concentrations43
Figure 12. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model by
different genders with maximum O ₃ concentrations44
Figure 13. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model by
different age groups with daily O ₃ concentrations45
Figure 14. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model by
different age groups with maximum 8-hour O ₃ concentrations46
Figure 15. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model by
different age groups with daily O ₃ concentrations47
Figure 16. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model by
different age groups with maximum O ₃ concentrations
Figure 17. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model for total, CVD, and
DM deaths with daily O ₃ concentrations

Figure 18. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model for total, CVD, and
DM deaths in different genders with daily O ₃ concentrations50
Figure 19. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model for total, CVD, and
DM deaths in different age groups with daily O_3 concentrations51
Figure 20. The death certification in Taiwan



Chapter 1 Background and Objective

Air pollution exposure is associated with cardiopulmonary mortality (1; 2) and morbidity (3; 4). Recently, the effect of particle exposure on health has become a concern for the general public and susceptible populations. The association between particle exposure and mortality in general and from cardiovascular diseases (CVD) has been established (5-7). However, the health effect of ozone (O₃) exposure remains unclear.

 O_3 exposure is associated with total (8) and respiratory mortality (9). Epidemiology studies have shown that O_3 exposure is associated with hospital admission and emergency visits for respiratory diseases (10; 11). The association between O_3 exposure and CVD remains unclear. Several studies have reported that increased O_3 levels may be associated with CVD mortality and morbidity (8; 12). However, other studies did not obtain the same findings (3; 4).

Previous studies have shown that the associations between air pollutants and cardiopulmonary diseases are prominent in susceptible groups such as the elderly (13), asthmatics (14), and those with cardiopulmonary diseases (15) or the diabetics (16-18). Ambient particles have a greater effect on the mortality (18; 19) and number of daily hospital admissions of diabetics (18). Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease accounting for more than 3 million deaths in the world each year according to World Health Organization (20). It has become one of the top ten leading causes of death in many countries around the world (21; 22). However, the increased susceptibility to O_3 exposure is unclear (13).

Different exposure metrics for O_3 exposure have been used in epidemiological studies with inconsistent results (8; 12; 13; 23). In this study, we used the maximum

8-hour mean and the daily average combined with either single-lag or moving average models to determine associations between O_3 exposure and total mortalities and those caused by CVD or DM.

The associations of DM deaths and O_3 exposure are less consistent (Table. 1 and Table. 2) with different O_3 exposure metrics and models. In the present study, we applied case-crossover study design to explore the risk of O_3 exposure and DM deaths, and our aims are as following:

- 1. To explore the association between O₃ exposure and DM mortality;
- 2. To determine an appropriate O₃ exposure metric for DM deaths;
- 3. To compare the risk of O₃ exposure on total, CVD, and DM mortalities.



Chapter 2 Literature review

2.1 Air pollution and health

2.1.1 PM exposure and Health

Air pollution exposure has been associated with cardiopulmonary mortality and morbidity. The association between cardiovascular disease and air pollutants including particulate matter (PM) and O_3 was reported in epidemiology studies (1) and a plausible mechanism of PM exposure with CVD was conducted. In one review article, the author pointed out that both short-term and long-term air pollutants exposure were associated with an increase of death from cardiopulmonary diseases (2). Schwartz et al. conducted a epidemiology research to explore the association between air pollutants and emergency admissions from pneumonia and myocardial infarction (3), and they found emergency admissions were significantly associated with increased air pollutants. A multi-city study illustrated that air pollutants including carbon monoxide (CO), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), O₃ and PM were associated with cardiopulmonary emergency visits (10). Peel et al. investigated potentially sensitive groups from emergency visits among CVD patients, and they found that CVD patients diagnosed with diabetes were at risk of air pollutants exposure on CVD morbidity (4).

Recently, health effect of particle exposure has been a concern for general public and susceptible populations. The associations between particle exposure and mortality from total and cardiovascular diseases have been reported in many studies. Daily total mortality was associated by 0.6% with per 10- μ g/m³ fine particles (particulate matter which aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 μ m, PM_{2.5}) (5). Another study found that there was 0.98% increase in total mortality for per 10 μ g/m³ PM_{2.5} increase, and the association between PM_{2.5} exposure and other specific causes of death including CVD, myocardial infarction, and respiratory diseases were found that the higher air pollutant concentration levels the higher the mortality (7). With different lag days of O_3 exposure, consistent results were observed in these studies that PM was associated with hospital admission for respiratory diseases (24) and CVD (3).

2.1.2 O₃ exposure and health

In Taiwan, Pollutant Standards Index (PSI) is used to indicate the pollutant level of the day, and the value of 100 is defined as the maximum permitted concentrations of pollutants. From 2006 to 2009, PM_{10} and O_3 were the main sources of pollutants exceeded the permitted concentration (25) in Taiwan, and the percentages of days with PSI> 100 of O_3 were higher than 60%.

The importance of O_3 exposure and health is also increasing in the world. There are substantial literatures about effects of O_3 exposure on public health especially for respiratory diseases (14; 26). Adverse health effects were observed in asthma patients under O_3 exposure.

Hospital admission and emergency visits for respiratory diseases were found to be associated with O_3 exposure. With completed measurements data of air pollutants, Peel et al. conducted an study to find the association of O_3 exposure and respiratory outcomes (11), and a positive association was found in the O_3 exposure and upper respiratory infections. Other studies had similar results in O_3 exposure and respiratory diseases in asthma (10; 14) and chronic obstructive pulmonary diseases (10) that provided supportive evidences on the association that O_3 exposure induced adverse effects on pulmonary diseases.

 O_3 exposure has been associated with total (8) and respiratory mortality (9). A cohort study conducted by Jerrett et al. exploited the association between O_3 exposure

and cardiopulmonary mortality (9). They found out that the relative risk of respiratory diseases death from O_3 exposure was 1.040 (95% CI: 1.010, 1.067).

The association between O_3 exposure and cardiovascular disease remains unclear. Several studies have reported increased O_3 level was associated with CVD in mortality (8; 12) (Table 1), while some didn't obtain similar associations between the two in morbidity studies (3; 4) (Table 2).



Table 1 Literature Reviews of Positive Associations between O3 Exposure and Health Effects

Authors	Methods	Health outcomes	Exposure	Main findings
(year)			metrics of O ₃	
Bell et al.	Daily death counts;	CVD, respiratory	24-hr, max	O ₃ exposure was associated with total and CVD
(2004) (12)	Lag 0-, 1-, 2-, and 3-day;	disease and total	8-hr, max 1-hr	mortalities;
	Distributed lag model (1 week)	deaths	(Apr Oct.)	OR was higher in distributed lag model
Franklin	Time-series study, percent	Total mortality	24-hr in	O_3 -mortality association was found, 0.89%
and	increase in mortality with 10 ppb		summer time	(95% CI, 0.45-1.33%) increase of death for per
Schwartz	increase in O ₃	7	(May to Sep.)	10-ppb increase in 24-hr summertime O ₃
(2008) (8)		14		19
Bell et al.	Meta-analysis	Total and CVD	N/A	An association between short-term exposure to
(2005) (27)	0-, 1-, and 2-day lag	deaths		O ₃ and mortality was found.
Ito et al.	Meta-analysis	Nonaccidential	N/A	An association between short-term O ₃ exposure
(2005) (28)	Lags up to 3 days	mortality		and mortality was collectively suggested.

Zanobetti et	Time-series study design	Total mortality,	Max	8-hr Total, CVD, and respiratory deaths were
al. (2002)	Lag 0	CVD and	mean	associated with O ₃ exposure
(29)	Average 0-1 lag	respiratory deaths		
	Sum 0-20 days lag,			
	unconstrained/ penalised			
Lee et al.	Case-crossover	Hospital admission	Daily ave	erage An association between O ₃ and CHF with DM
(2008) (30)	2-day moving average	for CHF	10	admissions was found

Authors	Methods	Health outcomes	Exposure metrics of	Main findings
(year)			O ₃	
Forastiere et al.	0-3 lags (single day)	Coronary death	Max 8-hr mean	Coronary deaths were not
(2005) (31)	0-1 lag (moving average)			associated with O ₃ exposure
Liang et al. (2009)	Time-series study	Total mortality, CVD and	Max 8-hr (9am to 5 pm)	O ₃ exposure was not associated
(32)	Summer/ winter	respiratory deaths	24-hr	with daily mortality from
	5 days lag			respiratory and CVD
	5 days moving average	YA	蘇	
Medina-Ramon et	Case-only study design	Respiratory disease, CVD,	Mean O ₃ level	No significant association
al. (2008) (13)	Lag 0-2 (from JAMA)	diabetes deaths		between DM death and O ₃
				exposure was found
Stieb et al. (2009)	0-, 1-, 2-day lag	Emergency department	Daily average	No association between
(10)		visits including angina,	3-hr average	cardiopulmonary emergency
		myocardial infarction,		visits and O ₃ exposure was

Table 2Literature Reviews of Negative Associations between O_3 Exposure and Health Effects

		heart failure and		observed
		dysrhythmia		
Zanobetti and	Lag 0	Hospital admission for	N/A	Association was not observed
Schwartz (2006)	0-1 days mean	myocardial infarction and		in O ₃ exposure and CVD
(3)		pneumonia		admissions



2.1.3 Air pollution and susceptible groups

Previous studies have shown that the associations between air pollutants and cardiopulmonary diseases are prominent in the susceptible groups such as elderly (13), asthmatics (14), those with cardiopulmonary disease (15), and diabetics (16-18).

Diabetics are more susceptible to ambient particles on mortality and daily hospital admissions. Zanobetti et al. found that CVD patients with diabetes were at higher risk in hospital admission than CVD patients without DM diagnosed (18). PM exposure was associated with vascular reactivity impairment and endothelial dysfunction in diabetes patients (33), and inflammation makers increased in diabetics exposed to $PM_{2.5}$ (34).

2.2 Diabetes mellitus

Diabetes mellitus (DM) is a chronic disease accounting for more than 3 million deaths in the world each year according to World Health Organization (WHO). It has become one of the top ten leading causes of death in many countries around the world.

Diabetes is a risk factor of CVD (35), and patients with DM diagnosed were at higher level of oxidative stress (36). Some studies showed that inflammation in diabetics were associated with air pollutants (19; 37). In the previous study, CVD patients with DM were found more vulnerable than those without DM (16). Another study also reported the risk of O3 exposure were higher in DM deaths than in total and CVD deaths (23).

2.3 National Mortality Registry

Mortality data has been applied in population-oriented studies for years, there were researches estimated the percentage change of daily deaths per unit increase of air pollutants such as PM_{10} or O_3 (7; 38-40). In Taiwan, mortality database was based on

the household registry system. Some databases in Taiwan are based on the household registry system including the National Registry Mortality database and the National Health Insurance database. The registry address is not equal to the living address, but in sum, more than 90% people live in the registry address in Taiwan (41).

The National Registry Mortality database offers information including the identification number, the date of death, the place of death, and the cause of death of deceased person. Only underlying cause of death from the death certification will be recorded in mortality database, and the accuracy of cause selection effects the statistic results (42). In Taiwan, the agreements of mortality data and death certifications are higher than 60% (43; 44), and diseases which are the underlying cause of death but not a fatal cause , for instance, diabetes, may not be mentioned in the death certifications leading to the underestimate of certain cause of death (42). However, the percentage of diabetes mentioned was similar with other countries (45), thus the bias of underlying cause of death selection was limited.

2.4 Case-crossover study design

Case-crossover has been used in the studies of air pollution and health effects for decades (46). It's a study design combined with crossover and case-control study designs(47) that all participants in the study are defined as cases and controls. The period of event defined in the study will be selected as risk or hazard period, and the period without onset will be identified as referenced or control period. With this classification, researchers are able to exploit the differences between the event and non-event. This study design has been well applied in investigating the association between air pollution and acute health effects from mortality (6; 48; 49) and morbidity (3; 50) to explore the risk of short-term effect on health outcomes. The entire cases in the study act as their own controls, and this is the main advantage of this study design that some individual variables such as smoking status will be well matched by study design instead of statistic control. Hence, the way to select risk and referenced periods is important that some researches focused on the selection with limited bias (51-54).



Chapter 3 Material and Method

3.1 Health data

In this study, we used mortality data to examine the association between air pollutants and mortality in the general population and in patients with CVD or DM. deaths associated with diabetes (International Classification of Diseases, 9th revision (ICD-9): 250) in patients older than 50 years of age in metropolitan Taipei (Figure 2(A)., colored positions), Taiwan (Figure 2(B).), between 2006 and 2008 were first chosen from the National Mortality Registry, and accidental deaths were excluded. For comparison, we then randomly selected deaths in the general population (at a 1:2 ratio) and those associated with CVD (ICD-9: 390- 459; at a 1:2 ratio) that were matched according to gender and age in the same study area from 2006 to 2008 with the DM deaths. Accidental deaths were not included in the total mortality group in our study.

3.2 Environmental data

28

Air pollutant levels were collected from the Taiwan Air Quality Monitoring Network, Environmental Protection Administration (EPA), Taiwan (http://taqm.epa.gov.tw/taqm/en/PsiAreaHourly.aspx). The study was conducted in metropolitan Taipei, including Taipei City and part of Taipei County within the Taipei Basin, where 15 monitoring stations are located. Daily averages of temperature, relative humidity (RH), carbon monoxide (CO), sulfate dioxide (SO₂), nitrogen monoxide (NO), nitrogen dioxide (NO₂), Nitrous Oxides (NO_X), O₃, particulate matter which aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5μ m (PM_{2.5}) and 10μ m (PM₁₀) were calculated. The Pearson coefficients of environmental data from different monitoring stations are highly correlated, and the averages of 15 monitoring stations were therefore used in this study

to represent daily exposure concentrations of cases during and before their deaths. In addition, we applied the daily 8-hour maximum concentration for analysis, which was used according to WHO air quality guidelines and regulations (55). $PM_{2.5}$ was not measured until August 2005 in Taiwan. We therefore collected data from 2006 to 2008 at 15 stations in metropolitan Taipei, Taiwan (Figure 2(B)., dots).

3.3 Statistical analysis

In the present study, a case-crossover design was applied to examine the association between exposure to ambient air pollutants and total mortality, and mortality caused by either CVD or DM. This is a mix of case-control and crossover designs in which cases act as their own controls, and it is also able to compare each subject's exposure between the event and non-event. In our study, the event is defined as risk period, and the non-event is defined as reference period. Case-crossover designs are able to control confounder effects such as gender, age, and other time-varying factors (47; 56) by study design rather than statistical models.

Moving average and single-lag models were used to investigate the effects of air pollutant exposure. Days 0 to 6 before the death were selected as the risk period. In the moving average model (Figure. 3), the exposure concentrations were computed with moving averages of 1-day (the day of death) to 7-day (the day of death to six days before death) to examine the risk of air pollutant exposure on mortality. In the single-lag model, every single day before death from 0-day (0-day lag) to 6-day (6-day lag) was selected as the risk period.

Four reference periods were selected every 7 days before death for 1 month (i.e., 7, 14, 21 and 28 days) before the risk period to control the day of the week, to remove trend effects, and to minimize the bias of selection (57) (Figure. 3). The concentrations

of reference periods were calculated the in same manner as the risk periods in the same model.

The effects of PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ were adjusted in the models separately. In this study, interquartile range (IQR, 75%- 25%) concentrations, which was calculated between 2006 and 2008, were used to express odds ratio (OR) estimations after modeling. Conditional logistic regression model (PROC LOGISTIC) was applied to calculate the OR between risk and reference periods with SAS 9.1.3. Relative humidity and temperature were included in the final models.





Figure 1. The flowchart of the present study design.

Chapter 4 Results

The demographic distribution of total, CVD, and DM deaths in metropolitan Taipei between 2006 and 2008 is shown in Table 3. There are significant differences in age distribution. The environmental data, including temperature, RH, PM_{10} , $PM_{2.5}$ and daily and maximum 8-hour mean O₃ levels, are shown in Table 4. To construct 2-pollutant models, correlations between air pollutants were computed (Table 5), and only PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ were highly correlated.

Moving averages from 1-day to 7-day were computed. There was an increased risk of O_3 exposure on DM mortality from the 1-day up to 7-day moving averages in the single pollutant model (Figure 4.). A similar pattern was observed for the maximum 8-hour mean of O_3 , with less significant results than the daily average of O_3 . Effects of PM₁₀, PM_{2.5}, NO, NO₂ and NO_x were not observed in our study.

We observed a significant risk (7-day OR= 1.08, 95% confidence interval (CI): 1.03, 1.15, adjusted by $PM_{2.5}$) of O_3 exposure on DM mortality with the moving average model (Figure 5.) adjusted by PM_{10} or $PM_{2.5}$. Similar results were observed when the maximum 8-hour O_3 concentration was used (7-day OR=1.08, 95% CI: 1.03, 1.13, adjusted by $PM_{2.5}$) (Figure 6.). In the single-lag model, we observed two peaks in both daily (Figure 7.) and maximum 8-hour (Figure 8.) O_3 metrics. However, the effects were less prominent than those in the moving average model.

Mortality risks due to O_3 exposure for different subgroups were further assessed using the daily moving average model (Figure 9. and 10.) and the single-lag model (Figure 11. and 12.). An association between O_3 exposure and mortality was found in the daily moving average model for males (7-day OR=1.19, 95% CI: 1.07, 1.33, adjusted by PM_{2.5}), but not for females (7-day OR=1.03, 95% CI: 0.92, 1.16, adjusted by PM_{2.5}). In the daily moving average model with maximum 8-hour O₃ concentrations (Figure 10.), the similar result was also observed for male (7-day OR=1.08, 95% CI: 1.03, 1.15, adjusted by PM_{2.5}). While in the single-lag model with daily (Figure 11.) and maximum 8-hour (Figure 12.) O₃ concentrations, the effects of O₃ exposure on mortality by different genders were not found (male, 7-day OR= 1.06, 95% CI: 0.99, 1.13; female, 7-day OR= 0.99, 95% CI: 0.92, 1.06; adjusted by PM_{2.5} with daily O₃ concentration). The age group of 50-65 years in the moving average model had an elevated risk (7-day OR=1.22, 95% CI: 1.02, 1.46, adjusted by PM_{2.5}) of O₃ exposure (Figure 13.), whereas we did not observed any significant results in the groups greater than 66 years old. In the moving average model with maximum 8-hour O₃ concentrations (Figure 14.), we did not observe prominent results in different age groups, neither in the single-lag model with daily and maximum 8-hour O₃ concentrations (Figure 15. and 16.).

We further compared the OR of O₃ exposure and total mortality, CVD deaths and DM deaths. In the daily moving average model, similar patterns of cumulative effects of risk between O₃ exposure and mortality were found for total (7-day OR= 1.17, 95% CI: 1.10, 1.24, adjusted by PM_{2.5}) and CVD (7-day OR= 1.10, 95% CI: 1.04, 1.16, adjusted by PM_{2.5}) mortalities (Figure 17.). It appears that DM deaths are not at higher risk than total and CVD deaths of O₃ exposure. According to the 7-day OR results, males have a higher association from O₃ exposed in total (7-day OR= 1.16, 95% CI: 1.07, 1.26, PM_{2.5} adjusted), CVD (7-day OR= 1.15, 95% CI: 1.06, 1.24, PM_{2.5} adjusted) and DM mortalities (Figure 18.). In contrast, for females, we only observed increased risk with total mortality (7-day OR=1.18, 95% CI: 1.09, 1.28, PM_{2.5} adjusted). The age groups between 50-65 years were at risk for DM deaths, while groups older than 66 years were at risk for total and CVD deaths (Figure 19).

Chapter 5 Discussions

In this study, we found that O_3 exposure was associated with total, CVD and DM mortality, and there were cumulative effects between O_3 exposure and mortality. However, the risk of O_3 exposure on DM death is not higher than those for total and CVD deaths.

5.1 Ozone exposure and mortality

Associations between O₃ exposure and total mortality have been found in previous studies (8; 12). Meta-analysis studies have also reached the same conclusion on the association between O_3 exposure and mortality (27; 28). An association between CVD death and O₃ exposure has also been reported (58). In a study conducted by Bell et al. (12), the 7-day average O₃ concentration was associated with daily total and CVD deaths. However, other studies did not obtain consistent results on the risk of death after O₃ exposure (13; 31; 32). The association of CVD hospital admissions and O₃ exposure has not been consistently observed (3; 10). Data on the relationship between O3 exposure and DM deaths is limited. One study found an association between DM mortality and 4-day averages of 8-hour maximum O₃ exposure (23). In other studies, an association between 8-hour daily O₃ exposure and DM mortality was not observed (13; 16). In our study, we observed an increased risk and cumulative effect on DM deaths in response to the 0- to 7-day O_3 moving average. Thus, our results provide further support for the health effects of O₃ on the mortality from total, CVD and DM. Possible explanations for O₃-related mortality include increased oxidative stress, inflammatory reactions, and autonomic control dysfunctions (59; 60).

5.2 Ozone exposure metrics

5.2.1 Daily average and maximum 8-hour means of O₃ level

Both daily averages and maximum 8-hour means were used in previous studies to represent O₃ concentrations (8; 12; 13; 23; 31; 32). However, it is not clear which value serves as a better exposure metric. In the current study, we observed similar results for both the daily averages and maximum 8-hour means on all types of mortalities. One study examined the risk in three O₃ metrics, including daily, 8-hour, and maximum 1-hr O₃ concentration, and found significant associations between O₃ exposure and total and CVD deaths with these metrics (12). One study found that the ratio between maximum 8-hour mean and daily average may vary among different cities (61). Thus, both daily averages and maximum 8-hour means of O₃ concentrations should be included in the analysis.

5.2.2 Moving average and single-lag models

One study investigated the risk of O_3 exposure on total and CVD mortalities and found that the risk of O_3 exposure on mortality was higher with the moving average model than the single-lag model (12). Another study conducted single and cumulative lag models to examine the risk of O_3 exposure on CVD deaths and did not find an association between O_3 exposure and mortality in the single-lag model (31). In our study, we have found the lag effects of O_3 exposure on DM deaths in the single-lag model. It appears that O_3 exposure has acute and lag effects. However, the daily moving average metric for O_3 is more sensitive and consistent than the single-lag model. Thus, the daily moving average metric for O_3 needs to be included in the analysis for the association between DM deaths and O_3 exposure. However, hospitalization information was not available in mortality data. Thus, increasing risk of longer exposure period may be observed due to hospitalization period in our study.

5.3 Total, CVD, and DM mortalities

DM mortality was associated with O₃ exposure, and the primary causes of death among DM deaths from multiple causes of death database were infections, CVD, respiratory diseases, and genitourinary diseases (Figure 20.).

We did not observe an increase in DM mortalities with O_3 exposure relative to other causes of mortalities. In a study conducted by Medina et al., diabetics who were exposed to O_3 did not have a higher risk of death than those with CVD (13). One study conducted in Canada found that DM patients with co-existing diseases were more likely to be affected by O_3 (16). DM is a risk factor for CVD and is known to be associated with mortality from infectious disease, and the diseases may be exacerbated in DM patients (62). Because the Mortality Registry only has one single cause for deaths, we did not further investigate the secondary causes of deaths. The specific causes of death from diabetes need to be identified in future studies. Although we did not observe increased deaths from DM as compared to total deaths, the role of DM on total mortalities needs to be further clarified.

5.4 Gender and age differences

In the present study, males and those aged between 50- 65 exposed to O_3 had an elevated risk of death due to DM. In one review paper, the author found that males were at risk for reduced lung function after O_3 exposure (63). Gender differences were also observed in the present study, as males had an elevated risk of death after O_3 exposure. This difference may be due to different time-activity patterns between genders, as males tend to spend more time outdoors than females (64). Subjects in the age group of 50-65

years had a greater risk of DM-associated death after O₃ exposure. Again, this may be explained by the fact that the younger subjects spend more time outdoors. However, the effects of age on all mortalities and those caused by CVD or DM were inconsistent. Different pathophysiological mechanisms for these mortalities may contribute to these differences.

5.5 The National Mortality Registry data

The National Mortality Registry is based on the household registration system in Taiwan. All of the citizens in Taiwan are required to have one registered address. The potential discrepancy between the household registry address and the actual living address was estimated to be less than 5% based on the study by Hung et al. (65). Thus, the misclassification of O_3 exposure for each individual should be limited and should not affect the results. The other limitation of our study is that we used average concentrations of pollutants from monitoring stations to represent individual exposure. Because of the relatively large number of monitoring stations in the study area, we are confident that the calculated pollutant levels are not greatly deviated from the true values.

In Taiwan, diabetes is frequently recorded in part I of the death certificate, while in the United States and other countries, it is recorded in part II (45) (Figure 21.). Thus, based on this coding system, DM in Taiwan would be more likely to be selected as the underlying cause of death. Caution is required when comparing mortality studies between Taiwan and western countries.

In conclusion, we found that DM mortality was associated with O_3 exposure, but that DM deaths were not more associated with O_3 exposure than total and CVD deaths. The ole of DM on O_3 -related mortality needs to be further studied.

Chapter 6 Conclusions and Recommendations

In the present study, increased mortality risk in DM is associated with O_3 exposure. Moving average model with daily O_3 exposure is an appropriate exposure metric for DM deaths. With the metric of the daily average of O_3 , male and subjects aged 50- 65 are at elevated risk of death. In the comparison of different causes of death from total, CVD, and DM, there is no obvious higher risk in DM death from the others, and the specific causes of death from DM need to be identified in the future study.

To improve the exposure assessment of O_3 , models for estimating the correlation between monitoring measurements and individual exposure of O_3 concentration is suggested. Further, multiple causes of death database can be applied to investigate the causes of death from DM when it is released by the Taiwan Government.



Chapter 7 References

- Brook RD, Franklin B, Cascio W, Hong YL, Howard G, Lipsett M, Luepker R, Mittleman M, Samet J, Smith SC, Tager I: Air pollution and cardiovascular disease - A statement for healthcare professionals from the expert panel on population and prevention science of the American Heart Association. *Circulation* 109:2655-2671, 2004
- 2. Brunekreef B, Holgate ST: Air pollution and health. Lancet 360:1233-1242, 2002
- 3. Zanobetti A, Schwartz J: Air pollution and emergency admissions in Boston, MA. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health* 60:890-895, 2006
- Peel JL, Metzger KB, Klein M, Flanders WD, Mulholland JA, Tolbert PE: Ambient air pollution and cardiovascular emergency department visits in potentially sensitive groups. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 165:625-633, 2007
- Ostro B, Broadwin R, Green S, Feng WY, Lipsett M: Fine particulate air pollution and mortality in nine California counties: Results from CALFINE. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 114:29-33, 2006
- Maynard D, Coull BA, Gryparis A, Schwartz J: Mortality risk associated with short-term exposure to traffic particles and sulfates. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 115:751-755, 2007
- Zanobetti A, Schwartz J: The Effect of Fine and Coarse Particulate Air Pollution on Mortality: A National Analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 117:898-903, 2009
- Franklin M, Schwartz J: The impact of secondary particles on the association between ambient ozone and mortality. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 116:453-458, 2008
- Jerrett M, Burnett RT, Pope CA, Ito K, Thurston G, Krewski D, Shi YL, Calle E, Thun M: Long-Term Ozone Exposure and Mortality. *New England Journal of Medicine* 360:1085-1095, 2009
- Stieb DM, Szyszkowicz M, Rowe BH, Leech JA: Air pollution and emergency department visits for cardiac and respiratory conditions: a multi-city time-series analysis. *Environmental Health* 8, 2009
- 11. Peel JL, Tolbert PE, Klein M, Metzger KB, Flanders WD, Todd K, Mulholland JA,

Ryan PB, Frumkin H: Ambient air pollution and respiratory emergency department visits. *Epidemiology* 16:164-174, 2005

- Bell ML, McDermott A, Zeger SL, Samet JM, Dominici F: Ozone and short-term mortality in 95 US urban communities, 1987-2000. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 292:2372-2378, 2004
- Medina-Ramon M, Schwartz J, Medina-Ramon M, Schwartz J: Who is more vulnerable to die from ozone air pollution? *Epidemiology* 19:672-679, 2008
- Rage E, Siroux V, Kunzli N, Pin I, Kauffmann F, Epidemiological Study Genetics
 E: Air pollution and asthma severity in adults. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 66:182-188, 2009
- Bateson TF, Schwartz J: Who is sensitive to the effects of particulate air pollution on mortality? A case-crossover analysis of effect modifiers. *Epidemiology* 15:143-149, 2004
- 16. Goldberg MS, Burnett RT, Yale JFO, Valois MF, Brook JR: Associations between ambient air pollution and daily mortality among persons with diabetes and cardiovascular disease. *Environmental Research* 100:255-267, 2006
- Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J: Cardiovascular damage by airborne particles: are diabetics more susceptible? *Epidemiology* 13:588-592, 2002
- Zanobetti A, Schwartz J: Are diabetics more susceptible to the health effects of airborne particles? *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 164:831-833, 2001
- Dubowsky SD, Suh H, Schwartz J, Coull BA, Gold DR, Dubowsky SD, Suh H, Schwartz J, Coull BA, Gold DR: Diabetes, obesity, and hypertension may enhance associations between air pollution and markers of systemic inflammation. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 114:992-998, 2006
- WHO: WHO Air quality guidelines for particulate matter, ozone, nitrogen dioxide and sulfur dioxide. 2005
- 21. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention U: Number of deaths for leading causes of death. 2008
- 22. Department of Health EY, R.O.C. (Taiwan): Statistics of causes of death. 2008
- 23. Ren C, Melly S, Schwartz J: Modifiers of short-term effects of ozone on mortality in eastern Massachusetts A case-crossover analysis at individual level.

Environmental Health 9, 2010

- 24. Halonen JI, Lanki T, Yli-Tuomi T, Tiittanen P, Kulmala M, Pekkanen J: Particulate Air Pollution and Acute Cardiorespiratory Hospital Admissions and Mortality Among the Elderly. *Epidemiology* 20:143-153, 2009
- 25. Environmental Protection Agency T: *Environmental White Paper*. Taipei, Environmental Protection Agency, Taiwan, 2009
- 26. Abbey DE, Nishino N, McDonnell WF, Burchette RJ, Knutsen SF, Beeson WL, Yang JX: Long-term inhalable particles and other air pollutants related to mortality in nonsmokers. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 159:373-382, 1999
- Bell ML, Dominici F, Samet JM: A meta-analysis of time-series studies of ozone and mortality with comparison to the national morbidity, mortality, and air pollution study. *Epidemiology* 16:436-445, 2005
- 28. Ito K, De Leon SF, Lippmann M: Associations between ozone and daily mortality - Analysis and meta-analysis. *Epidemiology* 16:446-457, 2005
- 29. Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Samoli E, Gryparis A, Touloumi G, Atkinson R, Le Tertre A, Bobros J, Celko M, Goren A, Forsberg B, Michelozzi P, Rabczenko D, Aranguez Ruiz E, Katsouyanni K, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Samoli E, Gryparis A, Touloumi G, Atkinson R, Le Tertre A, Bobros J, Celko M, Goren A, Forsberg B, Michelozzi P, Rabczenko D, Aranguez Ruiz E, Katsouyanni K: The temporal pattern of mortality responses to air pollution: a multicity assessment of mortality displacement. *Epidemiology* 13:87-93, 2002
- 30. Lee IM, Tsai SS, Ho CK, Chiu HF, Wu TN, Yang CY: Air pollution and hospital admissions for congestive heart failure: Are there potentially sensitive groups? *Environmental Research* 108:348-353, 2008
- 31. Forastiere F, Stafoggia M, Picciotto S, Bellander T, D'Ippoliti D, Lanki T, von Klot S, Nyberg F, Paatero P, Peters A, Pekkanen J, Sunyer J, Perucci CA: A case-crossover analysis of out-of-hospital coronary deaths and air pollution in Rome, Italy. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 172:1549-1555, 2005
- 32. Liang WM, Wei HY, Kuo HW: Association between daily mortality from respiratory and cardiovascular diseases and air pollution in Taiwan. *Environmental Research* 109:51-58, 2009

- 33. O'Neill MS, Veves A, Zanobetti A, Sarnat JA, Gold DR, Economides PA, Horton ES, Schwartz J: Diabetes enhances vulnerability to particulate air pollution Associated impairment in vascular reactivity and endothelial function. *Circulation* 111:2913-2920, 2005
- 34. O'Neill MS, Veves A, Sarnat JA, Zanobetti A, Gold DR, Economides PA, Horton ES, Schwartz J: Air pollution and inflammation in type 2 diabetes: a mechanism for susceptibility. *Occup Environ Med* 64:373-379, 2007
- 35. Beckman JA, Creager MA, Libby P: Diabetes and atherosclerosis Epidemiology, pathophysiology, and management. *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association* 287:2570-2581, 2002
- 36. Liu L, Ruddy TD, Dalipaj M, Szyszkowicz M, You HY, Poon R, Wheeler A, Dales R: Influence of personal exposure to particulate air pollution on cardiovascular physiology and biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative stress in subjects with diabetes. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine* 49:258-265, 2007
- 37. Mo YQ, Wan R, Wang JP, Chien SF, Tollerud DJ, Zhang QW: Diabetes is associated with increased sensitivity of alveolar macrophages to urban particulate matter exposure. *Toxicology* 262:130-137, 2009
- 38. Goldberg MS, Burnett RT, Bailar JC, 3rd, Brook J, Bonvalot Y, Tamblyn R, Singh R, Valois MF, Vincent R: The association between daily mortality and ambient air particle pollution in Montreal, Quebec. 2. Cause-specific mortality. *Environmental Research* 86:26-36, 2001
- Mar TF, Norris GA, Koenig JQ, Larson TV: Associations between air pollution and mortality in Phoenix, 1995-1997. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 108:347-353, 2000
- 40. Brauner EV, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J: The Effect of Ozone on All Cause Mortality in the Elderly: Modification by Sex, Race, and Previous Heart, Lung, and Diabetes Related Hospital Admissions in a US National Multicity Study. *Epidemiology* 19:S325-S325, 2008
- 41. Shih Y-T, Hung Y-T, Chang H-Y, Liu J-P, Lin H-S, Chang M-C, Chang F-C, Hsiung CA, Wu S-L: The design, contents, operation and the characteristics of the respondents of the 2001 National Health Interview Survey in Taiwan *Taiwan Journal of Public Health* 22:12, 2003

- 42. Lu T-H, Shih T-P, Lai H-S, Lee L-S, Lee M-C, Chou M-C: Evaluating the Validity of Cause-Of-Death Statistics in Taiwan (I): Sources of Possible Errors and Methods of Evaluation. *Chinese Journal of Public Health* 14:12, 1995
- 43. Lu T-H, Shau W-Y, Shih T-P, Lee M-C, Chou M-C, Lin C-K: Factors associated with errors in death certificate completion: A national study in Taiwan *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology* 54:7, 2001
- 44. Lu T-H, Shih T-P, Lai H-S, Lee L-S, Lee M-C, Chou M-C: Analysis of Formative Errors and Validity of Cause-Of-Death Diagnosis in a Teaching Hospital. *Chinese Journal of Public Health* 15:9, 1996
- 45. Lu TH, Hsu PY, Bjorkenstam C, Anderson RN: Certifying diabetes-related cause-of-death: a comparison of inappropriate certification statements in Sweden, Taiwan and the USA. *Diabetologia* 49:2878-2881, 2006
- 46. Bateson TF, Schwartz J: Control for seasonal variation and time trend in case-crossover studies of acute effects of environmental exposures. *Epidemiology* 10:539-544, 1999
- 47. Jaakkola JJK: Case-crossover design in air pollution epidemiology. *European Respiratory Journal* 21:81S-85S, 2003
- 48. Forastiere F, Stafoggia M, Berti G, Bisanti L, Cernigliaro A, Chiusolo M, Mallone S, Miglio R, Pandolfi P, Rognoni M, Serinelli M, Tessari R, Vigotti M, Perucci CA, Grp S: Particulate matter and daily mortality A case-crossover analysis of individual effect modifiers. *Epidemiology* 19:571-580, 2008
- Bateson TF, Schwartz J: Who is sensitive to the effects of particulate air pollution on mortality? A case-crossover analysis of effect modifiers. *Epidemiology* 15:143-149, 2004
- 50. Symons JM, Wang L, Guallar E, Howell E, Dominici F, Schwab M, Ange BA, Samet J, Ondov J, Harrison D, Geyh A: A case-crossover study of fine particulate matter air pollution and onset of congestive heart failure symptom exacerbation leading to hospitalization. *American Journal of Epidemiology* 164:421-433, 2006
- Lee JT, Kim H, Schwartz J: Bidirectional case-crossover studies of air pollution: Bias from skewed and incomplete waves. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 108:1107-1111, 2000
- 52. Janes H, Sheppard L, Lumley T: Overlap bias in the case-crossover design, with application to air pollution exposures. *Statistics in Medicine* 24:285-300, 2005

- 53. Navidi W, Weinhandl E: Risk set sampling for case-crossover designs. *Epidemiology* 13:100-105, 2002
- 54. Bateson TF, Schwartz J: Selection bias and confounding in case-crossover analyses of environmental time-series data. *Epidemiology* 12:654-661, 2001
- 55. Air quality guidelines for Europe. Copenhagen, World Health Organization, Regional Office for Europe, 2000
- 56. Maclure M: THE CASE-CROSSOVER DESIGN A METHOD FOR STUDYING TRANSIENT EFFECTS ON THE RISK OF ACUTE EVENTS. American Journal of Epidemiology 133:144-153, 1991
- 57. Levy D, Lumley T, Sheppard L, Kaufman J, Checkoway H: Referent selection in case-crossover analyses of acute health effects of air pollution. *Epidemiology* 12:186-192, 2001
- 58. Samoli E, Zanobetti A, Schwartz J, Atkinson R, LeTertre A, Schindler C, Perez L, Cadum E, Pekkanen J, Paldy A, Touloumi G, Katsouyanni K: The temporal pattern of mortality responses to ambient ozone in the APHEA project. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health* 63, 2009
- Cole MP, Freeman BA: Promotion of cardiovascular disease by exposure to the air pollutant ozone. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 297:L205-L208, 2009
- 60. Chuang GC, Yang Z, Westbrook DG, Pompilius M, Ballinger CA, White CR, Krzywanski DM, Postlethwait EM, Ballinger SW: Pulmonary ozone exposure induces vascular dysfunction, mitochondrial damage, and atherogenesis. *American Journal of Physiology-Lung Cellular and Molecular Physiology* 297:L209-L216, 2009
- 61. Anderson GB, Bell ML: Does one size fit all? The suitability of standard ozone exposure metric conversion ratios and implications for epidemiology. *Journal of Exposure Science and Environmental Epidemiology* 20:2-11, 2010
- 62. Fauci AS: *Harrison's principles of internal medicine*. New York, McGraw-Hill Medical, 2008
- 63. Clougherty JE: A Growing Role for Gender Analysis in Air Pollution Epidemiology. *Environmental Health Perspectives* 118:167-176, 2010
- 64. ABBEY DAVID E, BURCHETTE RAOUL J, KNUTSEN SYNNOVE F, MCDONNELL WILLIAM F, LEBOWITZ MICHAEL D, ENRIGHT PAUL L:

Long-term Particulate and Other Air Pollutants and Lung Function in Nonsmokers. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine* 158:289-298, 1998

65. Shih Y-T, Hung Y-T, Chang H-Y, Liu J-P, Lin H-S, Chang M-C, Chang F-C, Hsiung CA, Wu S-L: The design, contents, operation and the characteristics of the respondents of the 2001 National Health Interview Survey in Taiwan. *Taiwan Journal of Public Health* 22:12, 2003



	Total deaths	CVD deaths		No. of DM deaths (%)	
Variables	No. (%)	No. (%) Total		Male	Female
Total	11534	11534	5767	2916 (50.6)	2851 (49.4)
Age	74.8 (10.5)	74.8 (10.5)	74.8 (10.5)^	73.3 (10.7)^	76.3 (10.0)^
50-65	2320 (20.1)	2320 (20.1)	1160 (20.1)**	733 (25.1)**	427 (15.0)**
66-80	5436 (47.1)	5436 (47.1)	2718 (47.13)	1346 (46.2)	1372 (48.1)
>81	3778 (32.8)	3778 (32.8)	1889 (32.8)	837 (28.7)	1052 (36.9)

Table 3. Demographic Distribution of Total, CVD, and DM Death in Taipei, 2006-2008

CVD: cardiovascular disease; DM: diabetes mellitus; ** *P* <0.001; ^ Mean (standard deviation, SD)

Total and CVD deaths were matched by DM deaths according to gender and age at 1:2 ratio

	Mean (SD)	Max	Min	IQR
Temp (°C)	23.5 (5.2)	32.3	9.3	8.5
RH (%)	72.4 (8.4)	94.5	48.0	11.9
Daily O ₃ (ppb)	26.1 (8.8)	73.2	5.7	11.6
Max 8-hour O ₃ (ppb)	40.6 (14.8)	105.8	7.8	17.1
PM_{10} (µ g/m ³)	50.9 (23.5)	195.7	12.5	27.2
$PM_{2.5}$ (µ g/m ³)	29.1 (15.2)	111.7	5.9	16.7
Temp: temperature; RH: relative humidity;	the second	44		
	14 14	要。學問		
	10	201070101012		

Table 4. Distribution of Air Pollutants in Taipei between 2006 and 2008

	Temp.	RH	Daily O ₃	Max 8-hour O ₃	PM_{10}	PM _{2.5}
Гетр	1.00	-0.14**	-0.04	0.28 **	-0.15 **	-0.12 **
RН		1.00	-0.32 **	-0.39 **	-0.36 **	-0.23 **
Daily O ₃			1.00	0.73 **	0.38 **	0.34 **
Max 8-hour O ₃		A CONTRACTOR	X	1.00	0.46 **	0.47 **
M ₁₀			06		1.00	0.93 **
M _{2.5}						1.00
emp: temperature	; RH: relative hum	idity; ** <i>P</i> <0.01				

Table 5. Correlation Coefficients among Different Pollutants in Taipei, 2006-2008



(B) in Taiwan (A)



Refe pe	rence	Reference period	Ref	eriod	Referenc period	e Risk period
	I		I			
Mon	Tue	Wed	Thu	Fri	/ Sat	Sun
		1	2	3	4	5
6	7	8	9	10	11	12
13	14	15	16	17	18	19
20	21	22	23	24	25	26
27	28	29	30	31		

Figure 3. The selection of risk and reference periods in the moving average model

Risk period: moving average of 1- to 7-day before the event day

Referenced period: moving average of 1- to 7-day before the risk period every 7 days





Figure 4. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model.*

*adjusted by temperature and RH.



Figure 5. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average models** with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5.}



Figure 6. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average models** with maximum 8-hour O₃ concentrations.



Figure 7. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model ** with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5}.



Figure 8. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model ** with maximum 8-hour O_3 concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM_{10} or $PM_{2.5.}$



Figure 9. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model** by different genders with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5}.



Figure 10. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model** by different genders with maximum 8-hour O₃

concentrations.

**adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5.}



Figure 11. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model** by different genders with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5}.



Figure 12. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model** by different genders with maximum O₃ concentrations.



Figure 13. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model** by different age groups with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5}.



Figure 14. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the moving average model** by different age groups with maximum 8-hour O₃

concentrations.



Figure 15. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model** by different age groups with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM₁₀ or PM_{2.5}.



Figure 16. OR of each IQR increase among DM deaths in the single-lag model** by different age groups with maximum O₃ concentrations.



Figure 17. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model** for total, CVD, and DM deaths with daily O₃ concentrations. **adjusted by temperature, RH and PM_{2.5.}



Figure 18. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model** for total, CVD, and DM deaths in different genders with daily O₃ concentrations.

**adjusted by temperature, RH and PM_{2.5.}



Figure 19. OR of each IQR increase in the moving average model** for total, CVD, and DM deaths in different age groups with daily O₃

concentrations.

**adjusted by temperature, RH and PM_{2.5}



Figure 20. Primary causes of death among DM deaths from part I of the death certification

Source: Multiple Causes of Death Database, Lu.

死亡證明書

							3	在亡證字	號之
	證	明書	開	「「」」	1 位	填	寫		衛生單位註碼
姓 名		性別	□ 男 □ 女	國民身 統一號	分證 [
戶籍	省	縣 鄉鎮	村街	f 段	巷	號之			縣市 鄉鎮
所在地	市	副市 市	里路	ř L	弄				
出 生 年月日時	民 削 □ 後 □	年	月E	日 日 下		時	分		平月日
	(出生後未滿一星期死亡者需填寫時間)								
死亡	民國	年月	Β	F	午口	時	分		年 月 日
年月日時				۲	千日				
死亡地點 及場所	省市	脉 鄉鎮 市 市區	[村 街 単 昭	f 段	巷弄	號之			
	0□醫院	[②□診 所	3 □助產所	• •	宅の	□其 他			
死亡種類	◎□病死頭	成自然死 @[〕意外死 ③	□自殺	④□他	殺 ©□不	詳		
死亡者	①在何處	工作從事何種	行業		(2	擔任何種	工作及職務	Ş	職業碼
行職業									
死 亡 者 婚姻狀況	0□未 婚	◎□已婚	③□離婚	④ 配	偶死亡	⑤□不 詳			
死亡原因: (儘量不要填寫症狀或死亡當時之身體狀況:如心臟衰竭、身體衰 弱) 發									原死因註碼
1.直接引起死亡之疾病或傷害:									
先行原因: (若有引起上述死 甲、 死 で で で で で で で で で									
丙、(乙之原因) 略									
2.其他對於死亡有影響之疾病或身體狀況 (但與引起死亡之疾病或傷害無直接關係者)									
以上事實確無訛特此證明									診斷或證明者
醫師姓名及證書字號:									身分代表
醫院(診所)名稱及開業執照字號:									
醫療院所代號:									<u> </u>
院所地址	: 省	縣 鄉鎮	村 街	段	巷	虎之			
	市	副市 市	里 路		弄				
中	華 民	國	年		月		日		

Figure 21. The death certification in Taiwan